Nature of the Case 

A jury convicted Theodore James Purdy of statutory rape and aggravated 

indecent liberties with a child. The district court imposed a controlling life 

sentence. This is Mr. Purdy's direct appeal. 

Issue(s) Presented 

Issue #1: The district court erred by admitting Mr. Purdy' s involuntary 
statements to police officers. 

Issue #2: The record contains insufficient evidence to show that Mr. Purdy' s 
"confession" was sufficiently trustworthy to support the 
convictions absent additional corroborating evidence. 

Issue #3: The district court erred by admitting out-of-court statements by 
the complaining witness without allowing Mr. Purdy to cross
examine her. In the alternative, the district court failed to instruct 
the jury that it could not consider the out-of-court statements for 
the truth of the matter asserted. 

Issue #4: The district court erred by admitting a video interrogation where 
the officer repeatedly invited Mr. Purdy to comment on whether 
A. L. was truthful or a liar. 

Issue #5: The district court erred by instructing the jury that Mr. Purdy 
could knowingly or recklessly commit aggravated indecent 
liberties with a child. 

Issue #6: The prosecutor improperly argued facts not in evidence. 

Issue #7: Cumulative error deprived Mr. Purdy of a fair trial. 

Statement of Facts 

Theodore James Purdy was a 26-year old Afghanistan combat veteran (R.6, 

154-55). Allison, a woman who Mr. Purdy worked with at Topeka Correctional 
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Facility and who he started dating, moved into his house. (R.6, 155). Allison had 

a 3-year old daughter, A.L. (R.6, 155). As a result, Mr. Purdy took on a role of 

step-father, although he had no parenting experience. (R.6, 155). At one point, 

Allison's father lived with them, but the couple asked him to move out. (R.6, 

155). 

One day after working a shift at the prison, Allison's father and A.L. 

weren't home. (R.6, 155). Mr. Purdy was eventually confronted by police officers, 

who indicated that allegations had been made against him. (R.6, 158). Eventually, 

Allison and A.L. returned with Mr. Purdy to their home. (R.6, 158). 

Mark Montague, a Jackson County sheriff officer, contacted Mr. Purdy and 

asked to speak with him; Mr. Purdy met him at the law enforcement center. (R.6, 

159). Mr. Purdy denied ever improperly touching A.L. (R.6, 129). The officer 

later came out to Mr. Purdy's house, and Mr. Purdy consented to a search. (R.6, 

159). At this point, Mr. Purdy was no longer allowed to have in-person contact 

with A.L. (R.6, 160). 

The officer asked if Mr. Purdy would take a polygraph examination, and 

Mr. Purdy agreed. Mr. Purdy met with K.B.I. Agent Bridges five days later. (R.6, 

106). Agent Bridges spent about an hour asking Mr. Purdy questions for the 

polygraph examination and Mr. Purdy denied ever touching A.L. improperly. 

(R.6, 110). Agent Bridges suggested to Mr. Purdy that people are curious and 



3 

make mistakes. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:17:23). After completion of the polygraph 

examination, the agent confronted Mr. Purdy with the "results" showing that 

there was "no doubt whatsoever you had some sort of contact." (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 

2:21:50). Mr. Purdy became visibly upset and agitated and reiterated that he had 

not improperly touched A.L. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:21:50). Agent Bridges insisted 

that Mr. Purdy was lying, but explained that if Mr. Purdy admitted that he 

touched A.L. and was sorry and would guarantee that it would not happen 

again, they could "work with" that and that they could arrange for treatment or 

family counseling. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:29:15). 

In an agitated state, Mr. Purdy recalled a time when A.L., who was in the 

process of potty training, had an accident. (R.6, 163). Mr. Purdy indicated that he 

put her in the bathtub to clean her and that he used his finger to make sure that 

A.L. was clean. (R.6, 163). He testified that it made him uncomfortable and he 

didn't tell anyone about it because he was worried about whether his fiancee 

would stay with him. (R.6, 163). 

During the interrogation, Agent Bridges indicated that if Mr. Purdy put his 

finger inside of A.L. for minutes, it could not be a mistake but that if "if it goes in 

for two, three seconds, I can justify that." (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:31:44). In response, 

Mr. Purdy said that his finger may have been in A.L's vagina for "maybe five" 

seconds at the most. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:32:26). In response to the agent's leading 
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questions about how many times it happened, Mr. Purdy indicated that it only 

happened once. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:34:58). Mr. Purdy indicated that he was 

remorseful and indicated that it was an accident. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:39:16). 

After Agent Bridges completed his interrogation, Officer Montague 

followed up and indicated that he did not think that Mr. Purdy was a bad guy or 

a monster, but suggested that perhaps Mr. Purdy acted out of curiosity. (R.6, 121, 

exh. 1, 2:47:06). Mr. Purdy appeared extremely distressed and explained that he 

was just trying to make sure that A.L. was clean. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 2:47:56). The 

officer asserted that he did not believe that it was possible for Mr. Purdy to 

accidentally have his finger inside of A.L.' s vagina for five seconds. (R.6, 121, 

exh. 1, 3:07:41). Mr. Purdy was arrested shortly thereafter. (R.6, 121, exh. 1, 

3:10:11). 

After being taken to jail, but before being processed, Mr. Purdy indicated 

that he wanted to speak to the officer again to see if anyone had contacted his 

fiancee. (R.6, 134, 162). The officer again asked if Mr. Purdy hadn't acted out of 

curiosity. (R.6, 163). After speaking to the officer, Mr. Purdy was taken back to 

the interview room, where the officer had Mr. Purdy repeat their off-camera 

conversation. (R.6, 134). During that recorded statement, Mr. Purdy indicated 

that he did not accidentally put his finger in A.L's vagina, but that he acted out 

of curiosity. (R.6, 134, exh. 2). 
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Mr. Purdy suffers from posttraumatic stress disorder stemming from his 

combat experience in Afghanistan. (R.3, 67). Furthermore, he indicated that he 

suffered from depression from childhood. (R.3, 67). At trial, Mr. Purdy described 

that "when I get pressured or anything, I have very high anxiety. And I get into a 

bubble or a little thing, and will just say what they want to hear to get out of it." 

(R.6, 161). He explained that when he said he was acting out of "curiosity," he 

was just repeating what the officers had said. (R.6, 162) 

The state charged Mr. Purdy with statutory rape and aggravated indecent 

liberties with a child. (R.l, 39). The state sought to have A.L. declared unavailable 

as a witness, but the district court, after examining her, declared that she was 

available. (R.3, 31). Notwithstanding, the state did not call A.L. or her 

grandfather as a witness at trial. (R.6, generally). The only evidence introduced 

by the state to prove the charged offenses was Mr. Purdy' s "confession." (R.6, 

generally). 

The jury convicted Mr. Purdy as charged. (R.l, 182). The district court 

denied Mr. Purdy' s motion for a departure and imposed concurrent life 

sentences. (R.l, 213). Mr. Purdy filed a timely notice of appeal. (R.l, 225). 

Argument and Authorities 

Issue #1: The district court erred by admitting Mr. Purdy' s involuntary 
statements to police officers. 
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Preservation 

Mr. Purdy filed a motion to suppress his statements because they were 

involuntary. (R.l, 81, 121). The district court overruled the motion by written 

order. (R.l, 133). Mr. Purdy renewed the objection at trial. (R.6, 121, 135). 

Therefore, this issue is properly before this Court on direct appeal. 

Standard of Review 

When reviewing a trial court's decision on a motion to suppress a 

confession, this Court uses two standards of review. The trial court's factual 

findings are accepted if supported by substantial competent evidence. The 

ultimate legal conclusion of voluntariness is determined de novo. State v. 

Swanigan, 279 Kan. 18, Syl. ,r 1, 106 P.3d 39 (2005). 

Analysis 

Mr. Purdy's statement was the product of a combination of coercive police 

interrogation tactics and mental illness. These techniques overcame Mr. Purdy's 

will and rendered his statements involuntary. The admission into evidence of the 

involuntary statements violated Mr. Purdy' s rights pursuant to the Fifth 

Amendment to the Constitution which "command[ s] that no person' shall be 

compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself,"' Bram v. United 

States, 168 U.S. 532,542 (1897), and the Fourteenth Amendment which forbids the 

use of an involuntary statement at trial. Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368,385 (1964). 
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Substantive constitutional law prohibits the government from using an 

involuntary statement against an accused. Schneckloth v. Bustamante, 412 U.S. 218, 

225 (1973). When a defendant claims his or her statement was not voluntary, the 

prosecution has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that it 

was voluntary. The essential inquiry is whether the statement was the product of 

an accused's free and independent will. The voluntariness of a statement is 

determined by looking at the totality of the circumstances surrounding the 

statement and considering the following factors: (1) the defendant's mental 

condition; (2) the manner and duration of the interrogation; (3) the ability of the 

defendant to communicate on request with the outside world; (4) the defendant's 

age, intellect, and background; (5) the fairness of the officers in conducting the 

interrogation; and (6) the defendant's fluency with the English language. State v. 

Walker, 283 Kan, 587, 596-97, 153 P.3d 1257 (2007). Each of these factors is 

discussed below. 

Defendant's mental condition 

The officer testified that the interaction with Mr. Purdy was courteous and 

pleasant. (R.3, 43). But the video recording of the encounter shows that Mr. 

Purdy became more and more agitated as the interview with Agent Bridges 

progressed and the agent refused to accept Mr. Purdy's denials. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 

3). Mr. Purdy's body language portrays a person who is in great distress in the 
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face of the pressure being applied by the agent, moving his body back and forth 

and covering his face. 

Mr. Purdy testified that he suffers from posttraumatic stress disorder 

stemming from military service in Afghanistan. (R.3, 60, 66-67). Mr. Purdy also 

testified that he suffers from depression and was on 80% disability at the time of 

the interview. (R.3, 67). Law enforcement was aware of these conditions. (R.3, 

60). Mr. Purdy indicated that, pursuant to directions of Officer Montague, he did 

not take his psychotropic medication before the polygraph interview. (R.3, 65). 

He indicated that, when he is not taking the psychotropic medicine, he becomes 

a "completely different person" and gets "really anxious, nervous, go internal, 

and just want to be away from everyone." (R.3, 66). The video recording of the 

interview corroborates Mr. Purdy in a state of distress. 

Manner and duration of the interrogation 

The entire initial examination on October 20th lasted around three hours, 

with an introductory section, the polygraph examination, confrontation of Mr. 

Purdy with the "results" of the examination, and then revisiting him after his 

initial statements. (R.l, 136; R.3, 51-53, exh. 3). The officers gave Mr. Purdy one 

break and offered another. (R.l, 138). Officers did not appear to raise their voices 

or physically attack Mr. Purdy. But they did confront Mr. Purdy with claims that 
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he must be lying. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:21:50). This factor does not appear to 

weigh either for or against voluntariness. 

Ability of the defendant to communicate on request with the outside world 

The record does not disclose that Mr. Purdy ever requested any 

communication with the outside world before the interview or whether he 

would have been allowed such communication. This factor does not appear to 

weigh either for or against voluntariness. 

Defendant's age, intellect, and background 

Mr. Purdy was 26-years old with a high school education. (R.3, 69). He 

spent five years in the military and was employed as a prison guard at the time 

of the interview. (R.3, 69). As noted above, Mr. Purdy suffered from 

posttraumatic stress disorder and depression, which was known to officers. (R.3, 

60, 67). The state did not put on any evidence that Mr. Purdy did not suffer from 

these conditions. This weighs against voluntariness. See State v. Swanigan, 279 

Kan. 18, 38-39, 106 P.3d 39 (2005)(low intellect and susceptibility to being 

overcome by anxiety are factors relevant to voluntariness). 

Fairness of the officers in conducting the interrogation 

During the interrogation, Mr. Purdy repeatedly denied improperly 

touching A.L. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:18:47). In response, the agent indicated that 

there was "no doubt whatsoever that you are showing significant response" to 
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questions about putting something in A.L's vagina. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:18:56). 

Mr. Purdy responded that questions about a little girl's vagina did make him 

very uncomfortable. The agent responded that the only time he sees the kind of 

reaction he says he saw with the polygraph interview is when someone is being 

deceptive. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:21:06). The agent told Mr. Purdy that "there is no 

doubt whatsoever that you had some kind of contact." (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 

2:21:45). A few minutes later, the agent reiterated, "the only reason you would 

respond like that is if you had some kind of contact." (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:23:28). 

Faced with an officer that is confronting him with alleged "scientific" polygraph 

results that purported to show that he was not telling the truth, Mr. Purdy 

became even more visibly agitated. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:24:00). The agent 

explainted to Mr. Purdy that the test results are not "voodoo" but are very 

"scientific." (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:25:15). 

The agent then changed tactics somewhat assuring Mr. Purdy that "I have 

a very good relationship with many of the prosecutors in the area." (R.3, 51-52, 

exh. 3, 2:25:35). He continued to accuse Mr. Purdy of not telling the truth. (R.3, 

51-52, exh. 3, 2:27:28). But then suggested to Mr. Purdy that "if this is a first time 

thing and it was a mistake, we can work with a first time thing" and that "if they 

are sorry and they guarantee something is not going to happen again, we can 

work with that. We can get people into treatment. We can get family therapy. We 
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can get family counseling. We can get all sorts of things going on to help out." 

(R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:29:15 & 2:29:29). 

As discussed more fully in the next issue and incorporated herein by 

reference, the methods used by the officers in this case are well-studied coercive 

techniques that can easily lead to false confessions. Steven A. Drizin and Richard 

A. Leo, "The Problem of False Confessions ins Post-DNA World," 82 N.C.L. REV. 

891, 915 (2004)(interrogators seeking to coerce confessions should first present 

fake or exaggerated evidence that convinces suspect that situation is hopeless, 

then incentivize suspect to comply and improve hopeless situation). 

Faced with the "scientific" proof from the agent and the promises of 

possible alternative dispositions if he admitted doing something, Mr. Purdy 

suggested that he may have accidentally placed his finger in her vagina while 

bathing A.L. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:31:06). Over the next ten minutes of 

interrogation, the agent pressed even harder to get to a version of "truth" that he 

would accept. Faced with a Hobson's choice, Mr. Purdy indicated that he could 

have penetrated A.L's vagina for several seconds while bathing her, although it 

was accidental and he stopped right away. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:47:56). When 

Officer Montague took up the questioning, he said that he did not think Mr. 

Purdy was a bad guy or a monster, but that perhaps he was curious. (R.3, 51-52, 

exh. 3, 2:47:06). Mr. Purdy persisted in reporting that he was merely trying to 
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make sure that A.L. was clean after her bathroom accident. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 

2:47:56). And Mr. Purdy was visibly even more upset. (R.3, 51-52, exh. 3, 2:49:10). 

An officer encouraging a suspect to tell the truth, by itself does not render 

a confession involuntary. State v. Swanigan, 279 Kan. 18, 34, 106 P.3d 39 (2005). 

But the Swanigan Court went on to hold that threatening a suspect with 

withholding benefits unless they confess is relevant to the voluntariness analysis. 

279 Kan. at 37. In Swanigan, the officers exhorted Swanigan to confess so they 

could report that he had cooperated. 279 Kan. at 32-33. The Swanigan Court held 

that such promises/threats weighed against voluntariness. 279 Kan. at 38 (citing 

Aguilar v. State, 751 P.2d 178 (N.M. 1988)("implied threats and promises, 

especially when knowingly made to a defendant with diminished mental 

capacity, rendered the confession involuntary")). 

In fact, such promises dilute the Miranda warning itself. Pursuant to 

Miranda, suspects must be told that their statements can and will be used against 

them. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436,469 (1966). The Miranda Court described 

the importance of this part of the warning: 

The warning of the right to remain silent must be accompanied by 
the explanation that anything said can and will be used against the 
individual in court. This warning is needed in order to make him 
aware not only of the privilege, but also of the consequences of 
forgoing it. It is only through an awareness of these consequences 
that there can be any assurance of real understanding and intelligent 
exercise of the privilege. Moreover, this warning may serve to make 
the individual more acutely aware that he is faced with a phase of 
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the adversary system-that he is not in the presence of persons 
acting solely in his interest. [384 U.S. at 469]. 

By falsely portraying himself as wanting to help Mr. Purdy to get treatment or 

alternative dispositions, the agent decreased the likelihood that Mr. Purdy 

understood that he was not in the presence of a person acting in his interest. 

In the instant case, in response to Mr. Purdy's denial of improper touching 

of A.L., Agent Bridges confronted Mr. Purdy with "scientific" polygraph 

"results" he said proved that Mr. Purdy had improperly touched A.L. He also 

indicated that if it had only happened one time and he was sorry, they could 

"work with that" possibly obtaining treatment or family counseling. Combined 

with Mr. Purdy's mental illness and the effects of his failure to take psychotropic 

medicine, like Swanigan, this factor weighs heavily against voluntariness. 

The defendant's fluency with the English language 

There was no evidence that Mr. Purdy had any difficulty understanding 

Englsh. This factors weighs in favor of voluntariness, although in light of Mr. 

Purdy' s obvious distress, his understanding of the language simply highlights 

the effectiveness of the agent's unfair tactics. This factor does not appear to 

weigh for or against voluntariness. 

Summary 

Viewing the totality of the circumstances, the statement in this case was 

not voluntary. The officer was interrogating a person that he knew had 
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posttraumatic disorder and depression. Although the interrogation was not 

extremely long and although the officer did not physically abuse or threaten Mr. 

Purdy, the officer's implicit promise of treatment or alternative dispositions after 

Mr. Purdy had repeatedly denied improper touching rendered his subsequent 

statements involuntary and therefore inadmissible for any purpose. Jackson v. 

Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 385 (1964). 

Although there was a short period between Mr. Purdy's first "confession" 

and his second "confession" there is no showing of attenuation that would make 

it clear that the second statement was not the fruit of the first interrogation and 

continued suggestion by the officer. See Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S 600 

(2004)(second confession made twenty minutes after first tainted confession not 

sufficiently attenuated). The entirety of Mr. Purdy's interactions with officers on 

October 20th were involuntary and all of the statement should have been 

suppressed. 

Issue #2: The record contains insufficient evidence to show that Mr. Purdy' s 
"confession" was sufficiently trustworthy to support the 
convictions absent additional corroborating evidence. 

Preservation 

"There is no requirement that a criminal defendant challenge the 

sufficiency of the evidence before the trial court in order to preserve it for 

appeal." State v. Farmer, 285 Kan. 541,545, 175 P.3d 221 (2008). Therefore, this 
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issue is properly before this Court on direct appeal. 

Standard of Review 

In determining whether the state met its burden of proof, this Court must 

consider all of the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, 

and determine whether a rational factfinder could have found the defendant

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