No. 18-119872-A

---

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS**

---

**STATE OF KANSAS**  
Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

**THEODORE JAMES PURDY**  
Defendant-Appellant

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

Appeal from the District Court of Jackson County, Kansas  
Honorable Norbert Marek, Judge  
District Court Case No. 16-CR-414

---

**JODI LITFIN, # 24638**  
Assistant Solicitor General  
Office of the Kansas Attorney General  
120 SW 10<sup>th</sup> Ave., 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
Topeka, Kansas 66612  
(785) 296-2215  
Fax: (785) 296-3131  
jodi.litfin@ag.ks.gov  
*Attorney for Appellee*

##

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

### **Standard of Review**

When considering the legal basis for a district court's admission of evidence, an appellate court's review is de novo. See *State v. Cosby*, 293 Kan. 121, 126-27, 262 P.3d 285 (2001) (reviewing de novo party's claim that statement was admissible because it was not hearsay).

### **Argument**

Purdy argues that Agent Bridges's testimony about A.L.'s allegation was inadmissible hearsay. Hearsay evidence is generally inadmissible. K.S.A. 60-460. K.S.A. 60-460 defines hearsay as "[e]vidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing, offered to prove the truth of the matter stated."

Conversely, out-of-court statements that are not offered to prove the truth of the matter stated are not hearsay under K.S.A. 60-460. See *State v. Becker*, 290 Kan. 842, 846, 235 P.3d 424 (2010). “The theory behind the hearsay rule is that when a statement is offered as evidence of the truth of the matter stated, the credibility of the declarant is the basis for its reliability, and the declarant must therefore be subject to cross-examination.” 290 Kan. at 846 (citing *Boldridge v. State*, 289 Kan. 618, 634, 215 P.3d 585 [2009]).

If a statement is offered not to prove the truth of the matter asserted but to prove that the statement was made, it is not hearsay. *State v. Harris*, 259 Kan. 689, 698, 915 P.2d 758 (1996); see also *State v. Vontress*, 266 Kan. 248, 253, 970 P.2d 42 (1998) (if an out-of-court statement is offered “merely for the purpose of establishing what was then said, and not for the purpose of establishing the truth of the statement, the statement is not hearsay”). “If relevant, such a statement is admissible through the person who heard it.” *Harris*, 259 Kan. at 698 (citing *State v. Getz*, 250 Kan. 560, Syl. ¶ 2, 830 P.2d 5 [1992]). The Kansas Supreme Court has also held that statements offered into evidence not to prove the truth of the matter asserted but “to show their effect on the listener” do not constitute hearsay. *Becker*, 290 Kan. at 847.

Agent Bridges’s testimony about A.L.’s allegation was not hearsay as it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, i.e. that A.L.’s allegation was true. As explained by the prosecutor, the question was asked in order to explain the reason for the investigation and why Agent Bridges asked Purdy certain questions.

(R. 6, 110.) The fact that the allegation had been made was what triggered the investigation and provided the context as to why Agent Bridges asked Purdy certain specific questions.

The Kansas Supreme Court has previously held that a law enforcement officer may testify regarding the reasons an officer “ ‘approached a suspect or went to the scene of the crime’ ” because this evidence is not offered to prove the truth of the matter stated but rather to explain why an officer took certain actions. *State v. Thompson*, 221 Kan. 176, 178, 558 P.2d 93 (1976); see also *United States v. Freeman*, 816 F.2d 558, 563 (10th Cir. 1987) (out-of-court statement not hearsay if it is offered for the limited purpose of explaining why government investigation was undertaken). However, this legal premise has its limits. Where “ ‘the information as related to the jury directly or by necessary inference points to the guilt of the defendant, the testimony is inadmissible.’ ” 221 Kan. at 178-79. Here, Agent Bridges’s statement about A.L.’s allegation was admissible to simply show that an allegation had been made and he was interviewing Purdy in regards to that allegation. The testimony was relevant to explain the circumstances of the investigation and provide context to Agent Bridges’s interview with Purdy. Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it overruled Purdy’s hearsay objection.

Even if the district court erred when it allowed Agent Bridges’s testimony regarding A.L.’s allegation, it was harmless error. The erroneous admission of evidence is reviewed for harmless error under K.S.A. 60-261. *State v. Perez*, 306

Kan. 655, 666, 396 P.3d 78 (2017). The harmless error analysis under K.S.A. 60-261 requires this court to determine “whether there is a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record.” 306 Kan. at 666. “The State, as the party benefitting from the introduction of the evidence, has the burden of persuading the court that the error was harmless.” *State v. Betancourt*, 299 Kan. 131, 144, 322 P.3d 353 (2014).

Evidence of A.L.’s allegation was also established through Detective Montague’s testimony. This testimony went unchallenged. During the direct examination of Detective Montague, the prosecutor asked him:

Q. Okay. And one of the specific details is that [A.L.] was complaining that he had inserted something into her vagina. Is that correct?

A. That’s correct.

(R. 6, 129.)

Purdy’s attorney did not object to this question, and Detective Montague’s testimony about A.L.’s allegation was admitted into evidence for the jury to consider. Also, Detective Montague testified that the purpose of going to Purdy’s house to conduct a search warrant was because “originally there were some allegations of items that may have been inserted into [A.L.’s] vagina.” (R. 6, 130.) This testimony also went unchallenged.

Moreover, A.L.’s allegation that Purdy inserted crayons into her vagina was repeatedly presented to the jury on the recorded interview. (R. 11, State’s Exhibit 1.) At trial, Purdy’s attorney objected to the admission of this exhibit on the basis of

his previous motion to suppress. (R. 6, 103, 121, 135.) That motion only addressed the voluntariness of Purdy's confession and argued that it was involuntarily made, and thus, his statements should not be admitted. (R. 1, 81-84, 121-130.) Purdy did not challenge the interview on the basis of hearsay. The evidence of A.L.'s allegation was also admitted into evidence through Purdy's interview on State's Exhibit 1 and was cumulative. Thus, the statement that Purdy challenges as inadmissible hearsay was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted (not hearsay) or alternatively, its admission was harmless because the same evidence came in without objection.

Alternatively, Purdy argues that the district court should have given the jury a limiting instruction that advised the jury that Agent Bridges's testimony about A.L.'s allegation was not offered for the truth of the allegation. After the district court overruled the hearsay objection, Purdy's attorney did not request the district court advise the jury of the limited purpose of the testimony. Later, at the jury instructions conference, Purdy's attorney did not request a limiting instruction, nor did he object to the failure to provide a limiting instruction. Thus, this Court applies the clear error standard to review this claim. If a limiting instruction should have been given, this Court should reverse only if it is firmly convinced that the jury would have returned a more favorable verdict had the limiting instruction been given. See *State v. Cooper*, 303 Kan. 764, 771, 366 P.3d 232 (2016); *State v. Williams*, 295 Kan. 506, Syl. ¶¶ 4-5, 286 P.3d 195 (2012). Here, for the all the same

reasons the error was harmless, Purdy cannot meet his burden to establish clear error.

**IV. The district court's admission of a certain portion of the interview between Agent Bridges and Purdy did not violate *State v. Elnicki*.**

**Preservation and Relevant Facts**

During the direct examination of Agent Bridges, the prosecutor moved for admission of State's Exhibit 1, the video recording of the interview between Agent Bridges and Purdy. Purdy's attorney objected, "I would object, Judge. I think we've already had a ruling on the admissibility of that. And I don't think that's a redacted copy." (R. 6, 121.) The portion of the interview between Agent Bridges and Purdy was then published for the jury. (R. 6, 121.)

During the direct examination of Detective Montague, the prosecutor moved to publish another portion of State's Exhibit 1. (R. 6, 133.) Specifically, the portion of the interview where Detective Montague enters the room and recapped what Purdy had just admitted to Agent Bridges. (R. 6, 133.) Purdy's attorney did not object to the publishing of this portion of the interview. (R. 6, 133.) Later in Detective Montague's direct examination, the State moved to admit State's Exhibit 2, the video recording of the second interview between Detective Montague and Purdy. (R. 6, 135.) Purdy's attorney stated, "I renew my prior objection." (R. 6, 135.) The district court overruled the objection and admitted State's Exhibit 2. (R. 6, 135.) The State then published the interview. (R. 6, 135-36.) Following the cross-examination of Detective Montague, the State rested. (R. 6, 140-41.)

After the State rested, Purdy's attorney moved for a mistrial. (R. 6, 142-43.)

Purdy's attorney argued:

First of all, I'm going to move for a mistrial based on the video that was played, not this last six-minute video, but the three hour video. Only a portion of it was played. That video was not redacted and should have been redacted. There were some things in there that I think weren't appropriate for the jury to hear. The polygraph machine was still sitting on the table during the interview. It's unlikely that any jurors would know what that machine was but it was sitting there. There was a motion in limine regarding the polygraph machine. In addition to that, there were a couple of specific statements that I think shouldn't have been played for the jury: At one point, Special Agent Bridges says that either [A.L.'s] a liar or Mr. Purdy committed these acts. I think that that's completely out of line as far as what the jury should have heard. That should have been redacted by the State. The burden is on the State to put on evidence that comports with the rules of evidence. So that should have been redacted. That's should that should have been done prior to trial and I should have been given a copy of it at that time.

(R. 6, 142-43.)

The prosecutor responded:

As far as the comment about the child, something to the effect of either the child is a liar or Mr. Purdy did what he is accused of, that's already after he made certain admissions and the agent was simply solidifying, if you will, that this did indeed happen and that the child was actually either lying or what he has confessed to is true. So I don't know that that is – that's not your typical, I believe the child is lying or I believe the child is telling the truth type testimony. It's just an interview tactic. And, again, solidifying Mr. Purdy's statements.

(R. 6, 144.)

The district court denied the motion and held:

As far as, I mean, I – frankly, Mr. Purdy said on the tape himself that he had been untruthful on a prior occasion when he originally met with Detective Montague. And the way that, again, the agent was just trying to explore those statements of the child, which Mr. Purdy here denies as far as the crayons.

(R. 6, 145.)

K.S.A. 60-404 states: “A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless there appears of record objection to the evidence timely interposed and so stated as to make clear the specific ground of objection.” “The contemporaneous-objection requirement of K.S.A. 60-404 specifically applies to the admission or exclusion of evidence.” *State v. King*, 288 Kan. 333, 346, 204 P.3d 585 (2009); see *State v. Robinson*, 306 Kan. 1012, 1028, 399 P.3d 194 (2017).

Purdy’s objection to the interview was solely on the pre-trial rulings, not on the basis of improperly commenting on [A.L.] or Purdy’s credibility. (R. 1, 81-84, 121-30; R. 6, 142-43.) Purdy’s preservation section in Issue IV only cites to his motion for mistrial, after State’s Exhibit 1 had been admitted and published. While this may have preserved Purdy’s motion for mistrial on this ground, it did not satisfy raising it as an evidentiary issue on appeal. The contemporaneous objection rule is not satisfied by objecting on one ground at trial and arguing another ground on appeal. See *State v. Richmond*, 289 Kan. 419, 429, 212 P.3d 165 (2009); see *State v. Hollingsworth*, 289 Kan. 1250, 1256, 221 P.3d 1122 (2009) (It is well-settled that a party may not object at trial to the admission of evidence on one ground and then on appeal argue a different ground).

Moreover, Purdy’s attorney was likely provided the recording long before trial and could have requested specific redactions been done prior to trial. It appears no such redactions were requested. Because Purdy failed object to the admission of the

interview on the basis of improper comments on either A.L.'s or his credibility, it is not preserved and this Court should not reach this issue.

### **Standard of Review**

Generally, an appellate court's standard of review regarding a district court's admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion. *State v. Holmes*, 278 Kan. 603, 623, 102 P.3d 406 (2004). Nevertheless, a district court has no discretion to allow one witness to comment on the credibility of another witness. *State v. Elnicki*, 279 Kan. 47, 53-54, 105 P.3d 1222 (2005). Accordingly, a de novo standard of review applies to this issue. 279 Kan. at 51.

### **Argument**

If this Court reaches the merits of this issue, Purdy is not entitled to relief. Here, Purdy claims that several comments by Agent Bridges were asking Purdy to improperly comment on A.L.'s credibility. During two minutes of the interview Agent Bridges speaks to Purdy about whether or not he believes that A.L. is telling the truth or lying. (R. 11, State's Exhibit 1 at 2:40:00-2:42:00.) Purdy does not directly address whether he believes A.L. is telling the truth or lying. Purdy does state that A.L. said a couple of times that Purdy did not touch her. But then Purdy states that that is not true because it did happen.

Purdy relies solely on *State v. Elnicki*, 279 Kan. 47, 105 P.3d 1222 (2005), to support his contentions. At issue in *Elnicki* was the admission of a videotape which portrayed a detective speaking to the defendant during an interrogation. On the tape, the detective asserted that the defendant just told " 'a flat out lie,' " accused

the defendant of “ ‘bullshitting him,’ and ‘weaving a web of lies’ ” and suggested the defendant was lying because his eyes shifted. 279 Kan. at 51-52. The Kansas Supreme Court concluded that the videotape allowed the detective to improperly comment on the defendant’s credibility but did not determine whether statements alone amounted to reversible error. 279 Kan. at 57. Rather, the Kansas Supreme Court reversed the convictions, finding the combined effect of the detective’s accusations and the prosecutor’s improper remarks on the defendant’s credibility rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. 279 Kan. at 67-68.

The challenged statements in *Elnicki* are distinguishable from the portion of the interview Purdy now challenges. In *Elnicki*, during the interview with the detective, the defendant offered various explanations for where he was the night of the crime. During these explanations, the detective asserted that the defendant was lying to him. Unlike in *Elnicki*, here, Agent Bridges never explicitly asserts that Purdy was lying to him. Additionally, Agent Bridges did not engage in improper name calling or repeatedly call Purdy a liar. Agent Bridges’s comments were not the equivalent of calling Purdy a liar.

But even if this Court finds error it was harmless. Under the harmless error analysis in *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, 565, 256 P.3d 801 (2001), *cert. denied* 132 S.Ct. 1594 (2012):

Before a Kansas court can declare an error harmless it must determine the error did not affect a party’s substantial rights, meaning it will not or did not affect the trial’s outcome. The degree of certainty by which the court must be persuaded that the error did not affect the outcome of the trial will vary depending on whether the error implicates a right guaranteed by the United States Constitution. If it does, a Kansas court

must be persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that there was no impact on the trial's outcome, *i.e.*, there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict. If a right guaranteed by the United States Constitution is not implicated, a Kansas court must be persuaded that there is no reasonable probability that the error will or did affect the outcome of the trial.

Purdy was convicted because he repeatedly confessed to inserting his finger into A.L.'s vagina for five to six seconds. Agent Bridges's belief or disbelief of A.L. would not have swayed the jury's verdict. Thus, any error was harmless.

- V. Any error in the jury instruction for the culpable mental state for aggravated indecent liberties with a child does not amount to clear error.**

#### **Standard of Review**

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